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TREASURES OF THE
GREAT TEMPLE

In the Introduction v TREASURES OF THE
GREAT TEMPLE, 'vof. Eduardo Matos Maogtezu-
ma writes: ““The archeologist has it within his power
to give life to the world of inanimarte objetes, He digs
into the earth, goes deep into time, and comes face-
to-face with the gods and peoples of the past. In 1973,
it was my privilege dnee more to transeend the bar-
ners of time and penctrate into the heart of a eity,
the city of Mexico™

TREASURES OF THE GREAT TEMPLE i5 a1 lav-
ish testament to an extraordinary trove of Aztec trea-
sure uncovered during a 10-year excavation in the cen-
ter of Mexico City. These artworks are now on public
display at the Muscum of the Great Temple, built at
the very site of their recovery. Certain to delight both
travel buffs and art lovers, TREASURES OF THE
GREAT TEMPLE was photographed by Michel
Zabé, the renowned photographer of preColombian
wrt, PH) dazzhing full-colour plates detail the mythol-
agy and symhbolism pervading the art of the Aztees.
Through the eyes of sculprors and potters, we encount-
er a dynamic civilization, a terrifyng religion and a
great empire.

In this magnificent book, monumental Aztee religious
statuary, basalt and jade votive masks, jewelry, fun-
crary urns, incens bumm and ritual nﬂ(:rm[.{
v.mug.,hl in g g N
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INTRODUCTION The archeologist has it within his power to give life to the world of inanimate

objects. He digs into the earth, goes deep into time, and comes face to face
with the gods and peoples of the past. In 1978 it was my privilege once more
to transcend the barriers of time and penetrate into the heart of a city, the

city of Mexico.

The place now occupied by this enormous metropolis was once home to many
ancient cities. One of them was Cuicuilco, which flourished around 600 B.C.
A series of urban centers succeeded one another in its place until the year
1325 A.D., when the Aztecs founded the city of Tenochtitlan on an island
in the middle of Lake Texcoco in the Valley of Mexico. Tenochtitlan grew
and developed for almost 200 years until it was destroyed by the Spaniards
in 1521. Its ruins then became the foundation for the colonial city which has

become the present capital of Mexico.

Today it is possible to view the remains of the Templo Mayor, the Great Tem-
ple of the Aztecs. It was an honor to be one of those who spent five years
excavating the site with great care until we arrived at the center of the ancient
Aztec city. A whole team of archeologists and other specialists made this great
discovery possible. The environs of the Templo Mayor and its offerings were

uncovered and are now on public display.

Michel Zabé’s magnificent photographs reveal the very essence of these finds.
The buildings, the sculptures, the masks—in short, everything that was bur-
ied here for five hundred years has been brought into the light by the won-

derful time machine of Archeology.
All this will come to life as you turn the pages of this book...

Eduardo Matos Moctezuma

Anthropomorphic male figure; Green stone
with incrustations of pyrite, decorated in red

and white (23.3 x 10 x 5 cm). Guerrero area

culture
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It 1s August 13, 1521. Death rules
everywhere in Tenochtitlan, capital
of the Aztec empire. For three
months, the city has been under
siege. The bridges have been de-
stroyed, the causeways show the ra-
vages of combat. Day after day the
struggle has gone on without respite.
The drinking water that once flowed
from Chapultepec has been cut off,
and the normal routes of supply

along the great causeways that con-

nect the city with dry land are
blocked.

On the water the struggle is no less
intense. Fleets of canoes full of Mex-
ica warriors attack the Spanish con-
tingents and their allies again and
again, and the latter strive to avenge
the many affronts they have suffered
at the hands of the arrogant Mexi-
cas. A large part of the population of
Tenochtitlan has sought refuge in
Tlatelolco, which has become the
center of native resistance. To an in-
vitation to surrender, the last Mex-
ica 7latoan:, the Speaker (or ruler),

replies:

Well, since you wish it so, then carefully
husband the maize and provisions we have,
and let us all die fighting. Henceforward
let no one dare to ask me for peace, for if

anyone does, I will have him slain.

The fighting continues, and the mo-
ment comes when further resistance
1s useless. Cuauhtémoc knows this.
Together with some of his official re-
tinue and a number of women, he
sails for dry land. The Spaniards
learn of this maneuver and one of
their brigantines accosts the party
before they reach their destination.
Cuauhtémoc and his followers are
detained and taken immediately to
Cortés. This encounter between the
two great enemy chiefs will reveal the
complete lack of understanding that
beset two very different cultures, two
radically different ways of thinking.
Thus, when the Aztec Tlatoan: stands

before Cortés, he tells him:

Lord Malinche, I have done my duty in
defense of my city. There is nothing more
[ can do. Hence, as I am forced to come
before you a prisoner of your power, take
the dagger you wear at your side and kill

me with it at once.

This speech, recorded by Bernal
Diaz del Castillo as it was spoken in
Nahuatl by Cuauhtémoc and trans-
lated for Cortés, was not understood
in 1ts full significance. What the
young Tlatoan: meant is this: as a pri-
soner of war he was entitled to be sa-
crificed according to the custom of his
tribe so that, as a warrior, he might
accompany the sun in its sweep

across the sky, for this was the pro-
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per fate of warriors killed in combat
or taken prisoner for the sacrifice. He
was not asking for pardon, but for

the death a warrior deserves.

Cortés, however, does not under-
stand him; instead, in good ‘‘Chris-
tian’’ manner, he forgives him. The
young prisoner desires death —the
death to which his customs entitle
him— far more than the extended
life to which he is condemned. Here
are two diametrically opposed inten-
tions, two distinct ways of thinking
and being. This lack of understand-
ing will determine the future desti-
ny of the two antagonists: the Indi-
an, who must submit to exploitation,
and the Spaniard, his inquisitor and
lord.

With the military conquest of the ci-
ty thus consummated, an even more
arduous struggle began for ideolog-
ical conquest through the vehicle of
a Church that served the conquer-
ors’ purposes. Destruction of the In-
dians’ city and:temples was syste-
matic. Fray Toribio de Benavente,
also known as Motolinia, compared
it to the seventh plague of Egypt.
Here are the words used by the monk

in his Memoriales:
The seventh plague [was] the construction

of the great city of Mexico, in which more

people labored in the first years than in the

)

construction of the temple of Jerusalem dur-
ing the reign of Solomon, for so many were
those who worked at this task, or who came
to bring materials or provisions and tri-
bute to the Spaniards and to those who were
engaged in the public works, that one could
hardly force his way along the streets and
causeways, although they are quite broad.
And at the work sites, some were stricken
by beams, others fell from heights, and still
others fell under the buildings that were be-
ing razed in one place in order to be rebuilt

in another.

How terrible it must have been for
the conquered Indians to have to de-
stroy their own gods and temples and
use the very rubble to raise up new
ones! Ideological resistance was not
long in making itself felt. Motolinia
also tells how the recently subjugat-
ed Indians tried to continue paying
homage to their gods by hiding them

behind the new Christian altars:

Then they saw that they had kept some

images at their altars together with their




demons and idols; and in other places the
tmage in view and the idol hidden either
behind a drape or behind the wall, or with-
in the altar, and so they removed them, as
many as they could find, telling them that
if they wanted to have images of God or
Saint Mary, they must build them a church.

We also know how the Indians chose
a certain type of sculpture that rep-
resented Tlaltecuhtli, the earth god
who devoured all corpses, and re-
worked it into the base of a column
so that the figure of the god was fac-
ing down against the earth, thus
avoliding the suspicions of the monks,
who would surely have insisted that
the figure of the idol remain unseen.
“Do not worry, your grace,’’ the In-
dian must have replied, ‘‘this figure

1s going to be underneath.”

In this way the good priest was ap-
peased, while the Indians succeeded
in their purpose of preserving the fig-
ure of Tlaltecuhtli, for the rightful
position of this god was precisely
facedown and unseen. Here was
something the Western mind could
not understand. For the Westerner,
if something is carefully wrought it
must surely be intended for viewing,
an 1dea which had no correspondence

in the prehispanic world.

As the struggle between these two
cultures continued and the Spaniards
penetrated ever deeper, the conquis-
tadors strove to erase the world of the
native American altogether. All that
was considered the work of the devil
was destroyed and the way made

straight for the work of the angels.

This was in fact one of Cortés’s driv-
ing motives: to leave no trace of that
which constituted the holy places of
the Mexica. There is no doubt that
he was aware of the importance to
the Mexicas’ cosmology of the cer-
emonial center and the Templo May-
or. The latter signified the Center of
the Universe, the navel of the world,
the home of the supreme duality,
from which one could as well ascend
the heavens to Omeyocan or descend
to the world of the dead and find one-
self face to face with Death. From the
temple rayed out the four directions
of the world, each governed by its
own god, its own color, 1ts own sym-
bol. It was, as well, the place where
myths came to life in an eternal be-
coming, where sacrifice and death
took place daily in order to sustain
the life of the sun and of man who,
impotent, has given creation into the

hands of the gods.

All of this would be destroyed. Of the
Templo Mayor in its last architectur-
al phase not one stone would remain
over another. And out of the destruc-
tion of the Templo Mayor would
emerge the Christian cathedral. With
that unequal confrontation in Tlat-
elclco began the death of the ancient

gods.

It all began on that fateful day of Au-
gust 13, 1521.










August 13, 1790, marks the date of
the discovery at the Plaza de Armas
(now the Zécalo) in Mexico City of
the monumental statue of the earth
goddess Coatlicue. A few months lat-
er, on December 17 of the same year,
another discovery only a few meters
away from the resting place of the
Mother of the Gods also stirred the
imagination of the late Spanish col-
onials. This time it was the Piedra del
Sol, the Sun Stone, commonly known
as the Aztec Calendar. The leveling
of the Plaza, a project ordered by the
Viceroy Conde de Revillagigedo,
had borne unexpected fruit—an en-
counter with a world that three cen-
wuries earlier was cast down by evan-

gelical Spaniards.

What was the significance of this co-
incidence of dates: August 13, 1521,
and August 13, 1790? Did the ancient
gods resurface in order to assume
their rightful place in history with re-
spect to that first August 13 in Tlat-
elolco? A question for the gods, say
the believers. A simple coincidence,
say the scientists. But some coincid-

ences truly give pause for thought.

Another coincidence involving the
Templo Mayor concerns Alonso de
Avila Alvarado, son of a conquista-
dor. Let us go back to 1566, when
the young Don Alonso is living in a

mansion built by his father on a plot

of land granted to him by Don
Hernan Cortés on a site located im-
mediately above the ruins of the
Templo Mayor. Don Alonso and his
brother Gil are known throughout
New Spain for their parties and soi-
rees. Their power is evident and
soon, together with other sons of con-
querors (among their number is Don
Martin, son of Don Hernan Cortés)
they begin to conspire against the
Spanish Crown. They claim that
their fathers sired them to conquer
these lands, that it is unjust to force
them to render money and tribute to
Spain considering the cost they have

already paid to win the New World.

The rebellion takes shape and these
young men feel ever more intensely
that justice is on their side, to such
an extent that the conspiracy is
already common knowledge in every
corner of the colonial capital. The au-
thorities are not unaware of what is
being planned and they act without
delay. On June 16, 1566, they call
the young Marqués del Valle, Don
Martin Cortés, before the Audien-
cia, under the pretext that certain
news has arrived from the royal cap-
ital of which he must be informed.
Once they are assembled in the
presence of the judges, the president
of the Audiencia, Senor Ceynos, ad-

dresses Don Martin and says:




““‘Marqués, consider yourself a prisoner of
the King.”’

“Why am I made prisoner?’’, he ans-
Wers in surprise.

““For treason against His Majesty.”’
“You lie! I am no traitor, nor are any of

my lineage.”’

In the end Don Martin was forced to
surrender. At the same moment, the
Avila brothers and many other con-
spirators, including the Dean Chico
de Molina, were also being arrested.
A summary trial was held and a few
days later, to the mortification of
New Spain’s most powerful families
and to the utter stupefaction of the
conspirators themselves, they were
declared guilty of treason against the
Crown. Sentence was handed down
on August 3 of the same year (1566).
Those most severely affected, for
they lost their life and all their pos-
sessions, were Don Alonso and Don
Gil. Both were sentenced to decapi-
tation in the Plaza Mayor. Their
houses were ordered razed to the
foundation and their land sewn with
salt. An accusatory inscription in
stone was posted at the site. It can
still be seen today, embedded in a
wall across the street from the ruins
of the Templo Mayor, at the exact
location where Coyolxauhqui was
found, in the very heart of Mexico

City. The inscription reads:

These buildings belonged to Alfonso] de
Avila Alvarado, resident of this City of
Mexico, who was condemned to death as
a traitor. The sentence was executed on his
person in the public square of this city, and
the structures which were the principal buil-
dings of his residence were ordered torn
down. Year of 15[ ] (probably the same
year of 1566).

The coincidence is stunning. Those
who had helped to destroy the Tem-
plo Mayor, who no doubt used the
very stones of the principal Mexica
temple to build their mansions, now
saw their homes destroyed. And here
only two meters below the ground lay
Coyolxauhqui—the goddess who,
like those young rebels who lived
above the ruins of the Templo May-

or, was beheaded.

But let us return to the year 1790.
The Mexica monuments uncovered
during the remodeling of the Plaza
de Armas were apparently seen with
fresh eyes, not the eyes of conquest.
Instead of ordering their destruction,
the viceroy himself arranged for Co-
atlicue to be taken to the University
and advised that these works of an-
tiquity should be studied. And so
they were, by Don Antonio de Leén
y Gama. In 1792 de Leén published
his book Descripcion historica y cronoldg-
ica de las dos piedras que en ocasion del

nuevo empedrado que se estd_formando en




la plaza principal de Meéxico se hallaron
en ella el ano de 1790. (Historical and
chronological description of the two
stone works which, on the occasion
of the current repaving of the main
square of Mexico City, were found

there in the year 1790.)

A curious outcome was nonetheless
in store. As it turns out, Coatlicue
was buried anew, this time in one of
the patios at the University. The Do-
minicans claim that this was to avoid
““confronting the youth of Mexico

>

with her,”” as we are told by Baron
Alexander von Humboldt. Upon ar-
riving in Mexico in 1803 and learn-
ing of the archeological discoveries,
this illustrious traveler wished to stu-
dy the stone masterpieces and asked
to be shown the majestic statue of the
goddess. He pleaded with the Bishop
of Monterrey, Don Feliciano Marin,
to intercede and arrange for the sta-

tue to be dug up and shown to him.

In the end he was successful.

But what was it that really motivat-
ed the stubborn monks in 18037 A
letter from Bishop Benito Marin
Mox6 y Francoly, dated 1805, pro-
vides a clue. The letter reads as fol-
lows:

The statue was placed . . . in one of the
corners of the spacious University patio,

where it remained upright for some time,

but in the end it was necessary to bury it
once again . . . for a reason that none had
foreseen. 'T'he Indians, who observe all the
monuments of European art with such stu-
pid indifference, came with a lively curi-
osity to contemplate their famous statue. At
first it was thought that they were moved
to this by no other incentive than national
pride, a characteristic of savage no less than
of civilized peoples, and by the pleasure of
seeing one of the most outstanding works
by their ancestors, which they could see was
esteemed even by educated Spaniards. Non-
etheless, it later came to seem that in their
frequent visits there was some secret reli-
grous motwe. It was thus essential to pro-
hibit their access absolutely, but their fa-
natical enthusiasm and their incredible

cunning made a mockery of this decision.

They watched for moments when the patio
would be empty of people, especially in the
afternoon when, at the conclusion of the ac-
ademic lessons, all the classrooms are
closed. Then they would take advantage of
the silence that reigns in this home of the
Muses, they would leave their towers and
hurry to adore their Goddess Teoyaomiqui
[Coathicue). A thousand times the bead-
les, returning from outside and crossing the
patio on the way to their quarters, caught
the Indians by surprise, some on their
knees, others prostrate . . . before the sta-
tue, and holding in their hands burning
candles and other diverse offerings of the sort
their elders used to present to their idols.
And these things which were done, and lat-
er observed with care by many grave and
learned persons . . . led to the resolution,

as we said, of once more placing the afore-

said statue beneath the ground.

In spite of the Bishop’s contempt, his
words are highly significant. Let us
not forget that this happened only a
few years away from the beginnings
of the movement for national inde-
pendence. The tone of the letter re-
veals how these monuments served
to point up the contrast with the
mother country. This resurgence of
interest in the prehispanic past was
significant, as evidenced by every-
thing we have seen up to this point,
and we should now add what became
of the Sun Stone, which suffered a

very different fate.




The enormous sculpture known as
the Aztec Calendar was housed in a
side chamber of the cathedral —in
the west tower— where it remained
for many years. This encounter be-
tween the Aztec monument and the
greatest of the Christian temples is
provocative. One must not ignore the
role played by these ruins of the past
in the critical moments that led to the

struggle against the Spanish Crown.

Many years were to pass, neverthe-
less, before the presence of the past
in the center of the city was restored.
In the year 1900, on the Calle de las
Escalerillas —now Calle Guatema-
la—Don Leopoldo Batres rescued a
piece of the past. During the instal-
lation of the drainage works that
cross behind the cathedral from east
to west, Batres recovered a large
quantity of archeological matenals.
In 1913, Don Manuel Gamio per-
formed excavations on the property
located at the corner of the Calles Se-
minario and Santa Teresa (now Gu-
atemala), and he concluded that the

remains found there belonged to the

Templo Mayor of Tenochtitlan. Don
Manuel was right. While there had
been doubts up to that time concern-
ing the location of the great Teocalli
(Temple), Don Manuel’s findings al-
lowed him to present this hypothesis.

The ruins thus uncovered were dis-
played for many years in view of
those who passed that historical corn-
er. And then came the dawn of Feb-
ruary 21, 1978. Workers of the Com-
pania de Luz y Fuerza del Centro
(Central Light and Power Compa-
ny) were laying some cable when
they struck a hard object. They
stopped work in order to inspect the
object that impeded their progress.
They removed the mud and were
able to see that 1t was a stone with
relief carving. They temporarily sus-
pended their work, and the next day
they received a call from the Oficina
de Rescate Arqueolégico (Office of
Archeological Salvage). It was a
woman who did not wish to identify
herself, but she insisted that a great
discovery had taken place at the site.

Hours later she called again. The ar-










It was difficult to restore the Tem-
plo Mayor in an urban environment.
It took five years of intensive work,
with thousands of eyes watching
everything that happened day by
day. The concrete foundation of the
present city rests on everything that
was built up or deposited there sev-
eral centuries ago: walls, offerings,
great serpents’ heads and so forth.
Nevertheless success was possible.
The great time machine of archeol-
ogy allowed us to penetrate through
the concrete and the earth itself to
make contact with the faces of yes-
teryear. To give life to dead objects
1s the labor of the archeologist. It 1s
not only a matter of finding stone
masks and obsidian knives. It is the
possibility of going beyond, of dis-
covering what meaning is hidden be-
hind the ruins and penetrating their
symbolism. The archeologist who
succeeds In this recovers time that

has flown, time past.

Taken as a whole, the Templo May-
or is a setting where myths come to
life through the contrivance of ritu-
al. Here the face of life and death is
ever present. Here are Tlaloc and
Huitzilopochtl, present at each sanc-
tuary as an expression of the funda-
mental needs of the Mexicas. Upon
these gods depended the dualities of
daily subsistence: water and warfare,
agricultural production and imperi-
al tribute, hymn to life and hymn to
death: it is this eternal duality of the
prehispanic world that here takes on

living reality.

That is why the Templo Mayor was
for the Mexica the center of the uni-
verse. In its very architecture are ca-
talogued the Aztec theories of cos-
mogenesis. Thus the main platform
from which the Templo Mayor rises
is the earthly level. At its outer points
are found the great, undulating ser-
pents that converge like guardians
upon the center. Also on this plat-
form are the serpents’ heads at the
sides of the two great stairways. At
the foot of the stairway on Huitzil-
opochtli’s side was Coyolxauhqui, in
the position assigned to her by the
myth of the battle of Coatepec. Un-
der this main platform a great many
offerings were found. On it we see
—to the north and south and at the
rear— large braziers in honor of the

gods who preside over the temple.




Azcatitla Codex
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It is on this platform that the temple
itself 1s built, its four levels rising one
on top of the other, with two stair-
ways on the main facade looking to
the west. These are the celestial le-
vels leading to the thirteenth heav-
en, Omeyocan, where duality resides.
Omeyocan is represented by the two
sanctuaries dedicated to Tlaloc and

Huitzilopochtli.

Each of the two sanctuaries that
make up the Templo Mayor repre-
sents a myth. Thus, the side dedicat-
ed to the god of war symbolizes the
mountain of Coatepec, where the fra-
tricidal combat between Huitzilo-
pochtli and Coyolxauhqui took place.
Here Huitzilopochtli was born to
fight his enemies, which led the Mex-
icas to believe in their destiny as a
warrior people, the people of the sun,
since Huitzilopochtli is the sun.
Here, to keep the myth alive, the sto-
ry was represented anew each year
in the festival of Panquetzaliztli. In this
pageant the nocturnal powers repre-

sented by Coyolxauhqui and her

numberless host of brothers, inter-
preted as the moon and stars, are
conquered day after day by the sun
Huitzilopochtli with his weapon
Xiuhcdatl, the serpent of fire, which
is none other than the sun’s light as
it rises in the east every morning and

disperses and outshines the stars.

Tlaloc’s side of the temple represents
Tonacatépetl, or the mountain store-
house of grains, the nourishment of
man. Here also a myth is depicted,
a myth that speaks to us of how the
tlaloques, the rain god’s helpers, jeal-
ously guard the kernels of corn. It
was here that Quetzalcbatl came to
retrieve the grain and deliver 1t to
men. This is the side of fertility, of
life, of the needs of an agricultural
people who required water and land
in order to survive. Here also is
where certain ceremonies took place
to appease Tlaloc, for this god also
had his negative side: he could
scourge the land and kill the crops
with hail, lightning and floods.
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Let us imagine ourselves at the most
historical corner in Mexico City.
There, to one side of the Metropol-
itan Cathedral, in what used to be
the corner of the Calles de Relox
(now Argentina), Santa Teresa, Es-
calerillas (now Guatemala) and Se-
minario (which still has its old name,
although 1t 1s no longer open to traf-
fic as it i1s now part of the Plaza Ma-
nuel Gamio) are the ruins of the
Templo Mayor. What for many
years remained a mystery —that is,
the exact location of the principal
Mexica temple, for there were those
who erroneously believed it to lie
beneath the cathedral itself— was un-
veiled by Gamio’s digs at the turn of
the century. The ancient location fi-
nally was confirmed beyond doubt
with the recent Templo Mayor ex-
cavation. In the nineteenth century
there were already those, like Don
Alfredo Chavero, who had decided
that the Templo Mayor must be lo-
cated at the crossing of Iztapalapa,

Tacuba and Tepeyac, the ancient

causeways that joined Tenochtitlan

to dry land. And they were right.

The first thing that strikes the viewer
as he stands before the mutilated re-
mains of the Templo Mayor is the
perception that they emerge from be-
low the ground and rise above the
current street level. In fact, despite
the destruction wrought by the Span-
lards, the temple mound remained
intact. Those who have walked these
streets will remember that the Calle
Guatemala was somewhat elevated,
due in fact to the archeological rema-
ins lying under it. Nevertheless, one
must descend in order to reach the
tiled floors of the ceremonial platform
on which the architectural remains of

the temple were found to rest.

The Templo Mayor is not one tem-
ple but many. Over time, various
temples were superimposed one on
the other, partly according to the dic-
tates of unstable ground and constant

flooding. More importantly, when a

new Tlatoanti came to power and
wanted to ingratiate himself with the
people and the gods, he usually ord-
ered an enlargement of the Templo
Mayor. Thus, like an enormous on-
ion gradually enclosing its center
with more and more layers, the tem-
ple grew in size, with the previous
temple always serving as nucleus and
base of the new one. Moreover, each
new construction completely buried
the old, leaving all of the various
sculptures and offerings of the pre-
vious layers entombed. On at least
seven occasions a new temple was
built, always on top of the preceding
one. In addition, there were partial
expansions, especially of the main fa-

cade.

Let us take a tour of these many re-
modelings and expansions in order
to get to know this place where so
many artifacts were found, artifacts
that speak of the past of a people who
came to control a large part of Me-

soamerica.




Aerial view of the archeological site with Metropolitan cathedral in background.
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Historians such as Duran and Tezoz-
omoc tell us that upon arriving in the
middle of Lake Texcoco, the Mexi-
cas saw the sign their god Huitzil-
opochtli had promised: an eagle
perched on a prickly pear cactus.
Clearly this important myth was
created after the fact, for we know
that when the Aztecs arrived in the
valley they occupied lands that be-
longed to others. They were allowed
to settle in these regions provided
that they rendered tribute. That is to
say, the Aztecs settled not where they
wanted to, but where the local over-
lords granted them space. They came
to populate the islets where they built
Tenochtitlan because that i1s where
the Lord of Azcapotzalco agreed to

tolerate them.

One of the first projects they under-
took soon after their arrival was to
consolidate the terrain and divide the
city into four precincts meeting at the
center, where they began construc-
tion of the Templo Mayor (Phase I).
The material they used was locally
gathered wood and stone, so that the
first temple must have been a rela-
tively low structure. Nothing has
been found of this temple; it must be
situated at a greater depth than we
have reached with our current exca-
vation. On the other hand, a struc-
ture now known as Phase II has been

located which has been provisional-

ly dated to the year 1390 A.D. Luck-
ily it is almost intact, and the upper
sanctuaries of this phase are now ex-

posed.

Huitzilipochtli’s sanctuary is charac-
terized by the fact that opposite its
entrance is found the sacrificial stone
made of tezontle, a volcanic stone
readily available in the Valley of
Mexico. Toward the rear are found
the remains of the sanctuary’s inter-
1or. Here we see a bench that runs
north to south. In the middle of this
bench is a small altar where the fig-
ure of the god must surely have
stood. On the uppermost step lead-
ing to the sanctuary, in line with the
sacrificial stone, we see the face of a
figure looking westward from the top
of the temple. I venture to suggest
that this might represent a figure
mentioned in the myth of the battle
between Coyolxauhqui and Huitzil-
opochtli, whose mission was to in-
form the latter as to the whereabouts
of the “‘Southerners’ (Coyolxauh-
qui’s brothers) who were coming to
kill Coatlicue. Above his face is a
date —2 Rabbit— which, if our
interpretation is correct, corresponds

to the aforementioned year of 1390

A.D.

The sanctuary on Tlaloc’s side of the
temple also presents some significant

elements. First to come to our atten-
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tion 1s the sculpture of Chac-mool,
situated opposite the sanctuary en-
trance like the sacrificial stone locat-
ed in front of Huitzilopochtli. The

Chac-mool is polychrome and one

can still see its colors—blue, red, yel- *

low and white. The role played by
this figure is significant: he acts as
intermediary between the priest who
brings the offering and the god who
receives it. He is a sort of divine mes-
senger who takes the offering into the
sanctuary’s interior. Within the sanc-
tuary, we see again the bench where
stood the effigy of the god, in this

case the god of water.

Let us not overlook the pillars which
form the entryway to the interior of
the sanctuary, as they still preserve
the polychrome murals that original-
ly covered them. On the outside we
see designs in the form of circles that
represented the eyes of the god Tla-
loc. Underneath these circles are
bands of red and blue indicating the
celestial level. From them fall verti-
cal bands in black and white which
seem to represent rain. Toward the
rear, the pillars show a standing yel-
low figure walking over something
which appears to be a current of wa-

ter painted in blue, black and red.

Most of the remaining parts of this
temple (Phase II) have not been un-
covered due to the water table, which
prevented further excavation. Nev-
ertheless, underneath the floor of
these two sanctuaries were found var-
ious funerary urns and objects, the
most ancient of those uncovered at
the Templo Mayor. These will be de-
scribed 1n greater detail in later

chapters.

Chac-Mool; Polychromed basalt sculpture
covered with stucco. Mexica culture.
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Mural, Tlaloc’s complex; Polychromed stucco. Mexica culture.




Mural with yellow figure, Tlaloc’s complex, Polychromed stucco. Mexica culture.
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The next building phase (Phase III)
corresponds to the year 1431, when
the Mexicas had recently freed them-
selves from domination by Azcapot-

zalco. This period marks the begin-

ning of the expansion of the Mexicas -

under the reign of Itzcéatl (1427-
1440), when the Triple Alliance was
formed among Tenochtitlan, Tacu-
ba and Texcoco. The outstanding
monuments of this phase are eight
sculptures leaning against the stair-
way on the war god’s side of the tem-
ple, and three additional sculptures
that were found on the stairway to

Tlaloc’s sanctuary.

Next came Phase IV (ca. 1454
A.D.), during the reign of Monte-
zuma I. This was a time of great ex-
pansion, as shown by the grandeur
of the new building. To this period
belong the ensembles comprised of

two braziers, between which stands

Standard-bearers; Anthropomorphic stone
sculptures. Mexica culture.

—



a serpent’s head resting on the main
platform. One of these ensembles
adorns the north half of the temple
facade, and the other the south half.
The same grouping can be found in
the rear part of the temple, toward
the middle of each of the buildings
dedicated to Tlaloc and Huitzilo-
pochtli. The ensemble that corres-
ponds to the god of water has
Tlaloc’s face on the front part of the
brazier, with the attributes that char-
acterize him, such as eye-rings and
a forked tongue, all in the original
colors of blue, red, yellow, etc. By
contrast, the figures on Huitzilopo-
chtli’s side wear their hair in a bun,
which has been identified as the sym-
bol of the god of war. In the rear of
the temple, on the war god’s side, a
block of stone was found with the nu-
meral 1 Rabbit, which appears to

correspond to the year 1454 A.D.

Serpent between two braziers; Basall.
Mexica culture.
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During Phase IV various enlarge-
ments to the temple were carried out,
but only to the main facade of the
temple. This took place around 1469
A.D., the same year in which Axaya-
catl (1469-1485) began his rule. It
was in Expansion IV-B where the en-
ormous sculpture of Coyolxauhqui
was found on the platform on

Huitzilopochtli’s side, at the foot of

Rattlesnake’s head; Basalt. Mexica culture.




the stairway that leads to the god’s
sanctuary at the top of the temple.
The stairway —like Tlaloc’s— has
serpents’ heads at either end that still
retain vestiges of color. The heads on
each side of the temple belong to dif-
ferent species. Tlaloc’s serpents ap-
pear to be rattlesnakes, while the oth-
er two have four nostrils, perhaps

because they represent a nauyaca.

Nauyaca snake’s head; Basalt. Mexica culture.
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Head of undulating serpent, (side view and
: detail); Polychromed basalt. Mexica culture .




gle Warriors; Polychromed basalt. Mexica culture.
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Of Phase V (ca. 1485 A.D.), only
part of the platform has been pre-
served, but one finding from this per-
10d is of surpassing interest—the Hall
of the Eagle Warriors. This area was
found in the patio of the great cer-
emonial hall located on the north side
of the Templo Mayor. It consisted of
a series of rooms furnished with stone
benches on which a complete proces-
sion of polychrome figures were
found. These are very similar to those
at the Palacio Quemado (Burned Pa-
lace) in Tula, Hidalgo. In each room
the figures converged on a small al-
tar that rose above the benches and
held a zacatapalloli, the name given to
the ball of hay that held the maguey

thorns used for self-mortification.

Detail of bench with representations of
warriors; Polychromed basalt. Mexica culture.




This area was home to two fantastic
clay sculptures of the Eagle Lords, as
well as a clay skeleton. Also found
here were eight large braziers, of

which six bore the effigies of weep-

ing Tlalocs. The entire ensemble

shows beyond a doubt that these
rooms and the area they comprise
were used by the military Order of
the Eagle, which together with the
Jaguar Warriors made up an impor-
tant part of the Mexica nobility. A
companion building was discovered
on the south side of the Templo
Mayor. Although it could not be ex-
cavated, there 1s no doubt that it cor-
responded to the Order of the Ja-

guar.

Certain buildings from Phase VI
have also been restored, such as the
sanctuaries designated A, B and C,
which rise out of the great patio, and
the floor of tiles which extended
around all four sides of the Templo
Mayor during this building phase
(ca. 1500 A.D.) These three sanctu-

Eagle’s head, Hall of the Eagle Warriors; Polychromed stone. Mexica culture.

aries are located on the north patio,

between the central temple structure
and the Hall of the Eagle Warriors.

Sanctuary A is a building with two
stairways: one on the east facade and
the other on the west. By way of con-
trast, Sanctuary B, which is a Tzom-
pantli, or skullrack altar, has a stair-
way facing west, while the other side
is decorated with panels of skulls
carved in rock and covered with stuc-

co. There seems to be a close rela-

tionship between this building, locat-
ed exactly to the north of the Templo
Mayor, and the cardinal direction
which it occupies. Let us recall that
this direction corresponds to Micil-
ampa—the Way of the Dead—which
ts identified with the color black and
the flint knife. The skulls found
here—there are more than two hun-
dred of them—mimic the placement
of those real skulls in the building
that so stunned the conquistadors:

the 7Tzompantli or Altar of Skulls.

Tzompantli Altar of Skulls; Stone. Mexica

culture.







Detail of wall with rings, Red Temple.
Polychromed stucco. Mexica culture.

Sanctuary C is known as the Red
Temple. It has a companion struc-
ture on the south side of the Templo
Mayor. This building is character-
ized by the predominance of the col-
or red on a sanctuary which also has
the singular characteristic that its
east-facing facade is composed of a
vestibule with a round altar. This
vestibule in turn is made up of two

walls topped with large red stone

stll

rings. Vestiges of painting can
be seen on a large part of this sanc-
tuary. In general, some of the pain-
tings seem to imitate certain aspects
of the paintings at Teotihuacan. The
old god Huehuetéotl, who was found
very near this structure, in the north
patio, probably sat on top of this
building. His statue rests in a posi-
tion similar to the placement of the

ancient gods found at Teotihuacan.




Detail of mural, Red Temple; Polychromed
stucco. Mexica culture.

The last construction phase of the
Templo Mayor is characterized by
the fact that the structure was not en-
larged on all four sides as in the pre-
vious remodelings, but rested on the
same platform as its immediate pre-
decessor. Unfortunately, only a few

vestiges remain of this phase, on the

north side. Only traces marked out

on the flagstone floors of the space oc-
cupied by this last phase of the build-

ing were found.

Having completed our imaginary
first turn around the Templo May-

or of Tenochtitlan, we will next visit

the artifacts painstakingly salvaged

there over a period of five years.

Let us enter the Museum, then,
where this voyage to the past will take
us to our encounter with the mag-

nificent art of the Templo Mayor.
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The plan of the museum is based on
information discovered by archeol-
ogists and on written sources that de-
scribe the Templo Mayor. The eight
halls have been divided into two sec-
tions corresponding in theme to the
major divisions of the temple. The
south halls are associated with Hu-
itzilopochtli, while the north halls are
related to Tlaloc. A gigantic model
of the ceremonial complex provides
a centerpiece that separates the two
sections. The model incorporates
new architectural information gath-
ered over the course of a decade that
enriches our knowledge of the cere-

monial center.

The tour we are about to take thro-
ugh examining these ancient art ob-
jects will illuminate not only Aztec
forms of expression, but also the ex-
pressions of various other tribes and
regions subject to T'enochtitlan, who-
se artifacts came to reside in the
Templo Mayor. In this center of the
world, this navel of the Mexica uni-
verse, there was also room for the art
of the conquered enemy who were
forced to give the ‘‘people of the sun™
—as Alfonso Caso called them—their
men and their artworks to honor the
fearsome Huitzilopochtli. The Tem-
plo Mayor, the Mexicas’ seat of glo-
ry, was also a place of misfortune and
death for those who fell under their

sway.
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The first indication that we are about
to enter the sanctuary of the god of
war 1s the wall of skulls that rises at
the entry to the museum. Stone skulls
are piled high, one packed against
the other in a stunning display.
These were found mostly on the
south side (Huitzilopochtli’s side) of
the Templo Mayor, and may have
formed part of a Tzompantli altar to
Tzompantli like the one found on the
north side. Almost all the skulls had
a peg for mounting, which suggests
that they were an actual part of a
building whose purpose was connect-
ed with death. Their presence is at
once an invitation to and an omen of
what we will find in our walk on the
side of death—of impenal tribute,

war and sacrifice.

A second symbol awaits us upon ent-
ering the first hall—the eagle sculptu-
re found in 1986 beneath a building
that once belonged to the Marque-
ses del Apartado, across the street
from the temple ruins. Here also, in
1901, the famous ocelote-cuauhxicali

was unearthed, an enormous stone

Jaguar with gaping jaws and a recep-
tacle in its back for the hearts of
sacrificial victims. Eighty-five years
passed before its companion piece was
found a few meters away—the eagle
with a corresponding receptacle in its
back. The jaguar and the eagle were
both highly symbolic in the prehis-
panic world. The eagle represents the
sun, and thus Huitzilopochtli. In this
solar symbol in the form of a bird,
the sculptor has truly achieved a high
degree of perfection. If there be any
doubt, consider the anonymous artis-
t’s treatment of the feathers around

the eyes, neck and wings.

As a matter of fact, a text has been
found in Fray Bernardino de Sahag-
un’s Historia General de las Cosas de la
Nueva Espana (General History of the
Affairs of New Spain) which appears
to describe the site of discovery of this
sculpture as well as the jaguar now
standing at the entry to the Sala Me-
xica (Hall of the Mexicas) at the
Museo Nacional de Antropologia. In
the course of a narrative of battles be-
tween the Mexicas and the Spani-

ards, one finds the following:

In this place was a large stone eagle, as
tall as a man, and for this reason this pa-
t10 was called quauhquiaoac: on one side
of the eagle stood a stone tiger, and on the

other a bear also made of stone.




This reference to a bear may actu-
ally correspond to a great serpent’s
head (xiuhcoatl) which is not easy to
identify as such and which was found
next to the jaguar. Concerning the
placement of these sculptures, we
know that they faced the Templo
Mayor on the north side, a few me-
ters away from the Hall of the Eagle
the

named the patio de las aguilas even

Warriors—in area recently

i o

L e

before the discovery that it had the
same name in antiquity. Sahagun lo-
cates the statues here in passing as he
describes how, upon arriving, the
Spaniards fired a cannon and later
moved it up a few paces: They took the
cannon further ahead to the Patio de Vit-
zilopochtlt where there was a great round
stone like a millstone, and on Vitzilopoch-
tli’s sanctuary certain satraps [lords| were

seated.

There 1s no doubt that the ‘‘great
round stone’” Sahagun was referring
to was the sculpture of Coyolxauh-
qui. Nor is there any doubt, we be-
lieve, that the three statues Sahagan
speaks of are the ones we have
described—the eagle, the jaguar and

the serpent’s head.

Cuauhxicalli eagle, (above and on following pages), Basalt sculpture (139 x 82 x 72 ¢m). Mexica culture.
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Here, inside Huitzilopochtli’s sanc-
tuary, another interesting discovery
was made of some of the most ancient
objects in the Templo Mayor, cor-
responding to Phase I (1390 A.D.).
Not surprisingly, they are mortuary

objects—two funerary urns.

The first one is made of alabaster
covered with a unique obsidian lid.
Inside it were some charred bones,
two pieces of green stone and a gold
bell. A short distance away another
small urn made entirely of obsidian
was found. On one side it shows the
face of what seems to be a skull or
a monkey. Its delicate lid speaks to
us of masterful obsidian artisanry, a
craft that dates back to ancient times
in Mesoamerica. This material 1s not
easy to work with, especially if the
crafted object is a delicate one. Such
pleces require great experience and
skill. As with the first urn, the inside
of this one contained the remains of

charred bones.

Funerary urn; Obsidian (15.5 x 6.5 cm).

Mexica culture.
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Anthropomorphic mask; Silver (4.9 x 4 5 x
1.9 ¢m). Mexica culture.

What was most striking about it at
the time of discovery was the fact that
two extremely interesting objects
were found stuck to the lid: a gold
bell it bore on top which seems to be
the symbol of ollin (movement), and
a small silver mask with a very pe-
culiar face. The face gives the im-
pression of having its flesh eaten
away, although its nose also ends in
a protuberance. Along the top of its
head is a filigree ornament, and from
its ears hang large earrings in the
form of rattlesnakes. In effect, one
sees first the snake’s rattle and then
the body forming a knot that ends in

a sophisticated snake’s head.

Bell with ollin (movement) symbol; Gold
(2.7 x 2.2 ¢cm). Mexica culture.

Although the objects found inside
them are of course important, the
urns acquire their real significance
within the context implied by their
location. Both urns were found at the
foot of Huitzilopochtli’s altar, inside
the sanctuary. They must have con-
tained the remains of personages in
the uppermost social hierarchy to
have received burial here. In spite of
this fact, there is no great burial off-
ering nor anything remotely resem-
bling one. This reinforces the theo-
ry advanced earlier that Phase II of
the temple corresponds to a histori-
cal period when the Mexicas were
subject to Azcapotzalco and that, al-
though the charred remains deposited
here must have been those of distin-
guished persons, the circumstances of
the tribe did not permit grand fun-

eral rites.
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Another interesting piece is a small
ceramic figure of a dog, also found
within the sanctuary of Huitzilo-
pochtli, god of war. This piece was

made of a foreign clay known to ar-

cheologists as plumbate. 1t was ob-

tained in trade from the area of Gu-

atemala. In general the use of this

type of clay was at its peak about
1100 A.D., at the height of Toltec
splendor. Symbolically, the dog
played an important part in prehis-
panic Mexico. It was closely related
to death, and was an indispensable
aid to the type of dead soul known

as Teyolia, who must cross the rivers

that form part of the passage to Mict-
lan, the home of the dead. In this par-
ticular sculpture, the outstanding fea-
ture is the great realism of the head,
which is topped by a kind of crest.
The dog’s paws support the recepta-
cle formed by its body.

Zoomorphic funerary urn representing dog, (front and side views); Plumbate pottery (14.5 x 13 x 18 ecm). Toltec culture.
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On the other hand, one place they
were never able to subjugate, a place
where they suffered great defeats,
was among the Purépechas of Mi-

choacan. A major defeat occurrred

during the reign of Axayacatl (1469--

1481 A.D.). One of the orange clay
funerary urns found very near the
statue of Coyolxauhqui may have
contained the cremated remains of

Aztec captains felled in these battles.

Both urns are of exceptional quality
and they are related to one another,
as evidenced by the gods pictured on
them. On the first urn is the figure
of Tezcatlipoca, arm<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>